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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

DALLAS DIVISION 
__________________________________________      
             ) 
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION,   ) 
        ) 
   Plaintiff,    ) 
        ) 
  v.      ) Civil Action No. _____________ 
        ) 
MUNICIPAL RECOVERY SERVICES   )  
CORPORATION, a corporation, also d/b/a   )  
Warrant Enforcement Division,     )   
        ) 
MARCOS ANTHONY NIETO, a/k/a Mark Nieto  ) 
Individually and as an officer of Municipal   )  
Recovery Services Corporation,     ) 
        )     
   Defendants.           )                                           
__________________________________________ ) 
   
 

PLAINTIFF FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION’S 
COMPLAINT FOR PERMANENT INJUNCTION AND OTHER RELIEF 

 
 Plaintiff, the Federal Trade Commission (FTC or Commission) for its Complaint alleges: 

1. The FTC brings this action under Section 13(b) of the Federal Trade Commission 

Act (FTC Act), 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), and Section 814 of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act 

(FDCPA), 15 U.S.C. § 1692l, to obtain permanent injunctive relief, rescission or reformation of 

contracts, restitution, the refund of monies paid, disgorgement of ill-gotten monies, and other 

equitable relief for Defendants’ acts or practices in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 45(a), and the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692-1692p. 
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1337(a), and 

1345, and 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a), 53(b), and 16921(a). 

3. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c), and 15 U.S.C. 

§ 53(b).  Defendants reside in and transact business in this District. 

PLAINTIFF 

4. The Commission is an independent agency of the United States Government 

created by statute.  15 U.S.C. §§ 41-58.  The Commission enforces Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 

15 U.S.C. § 45(a), which prohibits unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce.  

The Commission also enforces the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692-1692p, which prohibits deceptive, 

abusive, and unfair debt collection practices.   

5. The Commission is authorized to initiate federal district court proceedings, by its 

own attorneys, to enjoin violations of the FTC Act and the FDCPA, and to secure such equitable 

relief as may be appropriate in each case, including rescission or reformation of contracts, 

restitution, the refund of monies paid, and the disgorgement of ill-gotten monies.  15 U.S.C. 

§§ 53(b), 56(a)(2)(A), and 16921(a).  Section 814 of the FDCPA further authorizes the 

Commission to use all of the functions and powers of the Commission under the FTC Act to 

enforce compliance by any person with the FDCPA.  15 U.S.C. § 16921. 

DEFENDANTS 

6. Defendant Municipal Recovery Services Corporation (“WED”), also doing 

business as Warrant Enforcement Division, is a Texas corporation with its principal place of 

business at 5353 Alpha Road, Suite 210, Dallas, Texas 75240.  WED transacts or has transacted 

business in this District and throughout the United States. 
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7. Defendant Marcos A. Nieto, also known as Mark Nieto (“Nieto”), is the sole 

owner and employee of WED.  Nieto also serves as the company’s President and CEO and 

executes contracts on behalf of the company.  At all times material to this Complaint, acting 

alone or in concert with others, he has formulated, directed, controlled, had the authority to 

control, or participated in the acts and practices of WED set forth in this Complaint.  Nieto 

resides in this District, and, in connection with the matters alleged here, transacts or has 

transacted business in this District and throughout the United States. 

COMMERCE 

8. At all times material to this Complaint, Defendants have maintained a substantial 

course of trade in or affecting commerce, as “commerce” is defined in Section 4 of the FTC Act, 

15 U.S.C. § 44.  

   DEFENDANTS’ BUSINESS ACTIVITIES 

9. Since at least 2009, Defendants have engaged in third-party debt collection of 

past-due municipal utility bills, traffic tickets, fines, and other debts owed to municipalities in 

Texas and Oklahoma. 

10. Municipalities that have employed WED’s collection services sign agreements 

with the company.  Nieto executed these collection agreements on behalf of WED, as the 

company’s President. 

11. In numerous instances, Defendants have mailed one or more letters or postcards 

to consumers who owed municipal utility bills, court fines, and other debts. 

12. In numerous instances, the collection letters or postcards that Defendants have 

mailed to consumers, including consumers who owe court-imposed municipal debt and 

municipal utility debt, prominently displayed a seal with a star and the name “Warrant 
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Enforcement.”  The collection letters and postcards have represented that they are from a 

municipal court. 

COLLECTION OF COURT-IMPOSED MUNICIPAL DEBT 

13. In collecting court-imposed municipal debts, Defendants have employed a three-

phase collection letter process.  Each phase in the process has represented that the likelihood of 

the consumer’s arrest for failing to pay the alleged debt has escalated.    

14. Defendants’ Phase 1 letter (a sample of which is attached as Exhibit A), entitled 

“NOTICE OF OUTSTANDING WARRANTS,” has stated, among other things, that: 

a. “failure to take care of outstanding warrants may result in running a great 

risk of arrest at any time;” and 

b. “IN THE STATE OF . . . WARRANTS ARE ENCORCEABLE BY A 

POLICE OFFICER AT ANYTIME.” 

[emphasis in original] 

15. Defendants’ Phase 2 letter (a sample of which is attached as Exhibit B), entitled 

“WARRANT FOR YOUR ARREST,” has stated, among other things, that: 

a. “A DECISION HAS BEEN SET FORTH BY THE COURT TO 

ACTIVELY PURSUE ALL OUTSTANDING WARRANTS.” 

b. “The following actions may be a direct result of your negligence: 

i. Arrest at your home or office 

ii. Jail confinement for a considerable amount of time 

iii. Vehicle impoundment  

iv. Inability to renew your driver’s license.” 

[emphasis in original] 
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16. Defendants’ Phase 3 letter (a sample of which is attached as Exhibit C), entitled 

“FINAL NOTICE BEFORE ARREST,” has stated, among other things, that: 

a. “CRIMINAL WARRANTS FOR YOUR ARREST HAVE BEEN 

ISSUED;” and  

b. “WARRANT OFFICERS HAVE BEEN GIVEN YOUR CURRENT 

ADDRESS BEING HELD ON FILE.” 

[emphasis in original] 

COLLECTION OF MUNICIPAL UTILITY DEBTS 

17. In numerous instances, Defendants have mailed consumers a postcard (a sample 

of which is attached as Exhibit D), in an attempt to collect a utility bill.    

18. The postcard that Defendants have mailed to consumers who owed municipal 

utility debts, prominently displayed a seal with a star and the name “Warrant Enforcement.”  The 

postcard represented that it is from a municipal court.  

19.  In numerous instances, the postcard that Defendants have mailed to consumers 

who owed utility bills, contained false statements and threats, including, among other things: 

PAY YOUR FINE NOW – AVOID GOING TO JAIL[.] 

*WARNING: IF YOU MAIL PAYMENT, YOUR WARRANT(S) 
WILL REMAIN ACTIVE AND YOU REMAIN SUBJECT TO 
ARREST UNTIL PAYMENT IS RECEIVED & POSTED BY 
THE APPROPRIATE COURT. 
 
NOTICE OF OUTSTANDING WARRANTS 
 
This notice is to inform you of possible outstanding warrants for 
your arrest, our records indicate this debt is significantly over due. 
 
WITHIN THE STATE OF OKLAHOMA, WARRANTS ARE 
ENFORCABLE BY A POLICE OFFICER AT ANYTIME  
 

[emphasis in original] 
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20. The postcard that Defendants have mailed to consumers, requested that payments 

be made “Payable to WARRANT ENFORCEMENT,” and listed the company’s Alpha Road 

address in Dallas, Texas.  Defendants’ postcard further directed consumers who have “additional 

inquiries regarding this notice” or would like to “obtain information regarding possible warrants” 

to call a toll-free number, (800) 897-7508. 

21. In numerous instances, while attempting to collect past-due utility debts, 

Defendants have failed to provide consumers with a statutorily required notice, either orally in 

their initial communication with the consumer or in writing within five days of the initial oral 

communication, setting forth the following:  a) the amount of the alleged debt; b) the name of the 

creditor to whom the purported debt is owed; c) a statement that unless the consumer disputes the 

debt, the debt will be assumed valid; d) a statement that if the consumer disputes all or part of the 

debt in writing within 30 days, the debt collector will obtain verification of the debt and mail it to 

the consumer; and e) a statement that, upon the consumer’s written request within the 30-day 

period, the debt collector will provide the name and address of the original creditor, if different 

from the current creditor.   

VIOLATIONS OF THE FTC ACT 

22. Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), prohibits “unfair or deceptive acts 

or practices in or affecting commerce.” 

23. Misrepresentations or deceptive omissions of material fact constitute deceptive 

acts or practices prohibited by Section 5(a) of the FTC Act. 
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COUNT ONE 
False or Unsubstantiated Statements Used to Collect Debts 

 
24. In numerous instances in connection with the collection of debts, Defendants have 

represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that:  

a. Consumers will be arrested or jailed if they fail to promptly pay 

Defendants;  

b. Consumers will have their vehicle impounded; and 

c. Consumers will be unable to renew their driver’s license. 

25. In truth and in fact, in numerous instances in which Defendants have made the 

representations set forth in paragraph 24 of this Complaint, these representations have been false, 

or Defendants have not had a reasonable basis for the representations at the time Defendants 

made them.   

26. Therefore, Defendants’ representations as set forth in Paragraph 24 of this 

Complaint constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 45(a). 

COUNT TWO 
False Statements Used to Collect Debts 

 
27. In numerous instances in connection with the collection of debts, Defendants have 

represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that: 

a. Defendants’ communications are from a municipal court; 

b. Consumers have committed a crime by having an unpaid debt; and 

c. Consumers have outstanding arrest warrants against them.  

28. In truth and in fact, in numerous instances in which Defendants have made the 

representations set forth in Paragraph 27 of this Complaint: 

Case 3:15-cv-04064-N   Document 1   Filed 12/24/15    Page 7 of 18   PageID 7



Page 8 of 13 
 

a. Defendants’ communications were not from a municipal court;  

b. Consumers have not committed a crime by having an unpaid debt; and 

c. Consumers did not have outstanding arrest warrants against them.  

29. Therefore, Defendants’ representations set forth in Paragraph 27 of this 

Complaint are false and misleading and constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of 

Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a). 

VIOLATIONS OF THE FDCPA 

30. In 1977, Congress passed the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq., which became 

effective on March 20, 1978, and has been in force since that date.  Section 814 of the FDCPA, 

15 U.S.C. § 1692l, provides that a violation of the FDCPA shall be deemed an unfair or 

deceptive act or practice in violation of the FTC Act, and further authorizes the Commission to 

use all of its functions and powers under the FTC Act to enforce compliance with the FDCPA by 

any debt collector.  The authority of the Commission in this regard includes the power to enforce 

the provisions of the FDCPA in the same manner as if the violation of the FDCPA were 

violations of a Commission trade regulation rule. 

31. Defendants are “debt collectors” as defined in Section 803(6) of the FDCPA,     

15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). 

32. A “consumer,” as defined in Section 803(3) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3), 

is “any natural person obligated or allegedly obligated to pay any debt.” 

33. A “debt,” as defined in Section 803(5) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(5), is 

“any obligation or alleged obligation of a consumer to pay money arising out of a transaction in 

which the money, property, insurance or services which are the subject of the transaction are 

primarily for personal, family, or household purposes, whether or not such obligation has been 
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reduced to judgment.”  Municipal utility bills are “debts” within the meaning of Section 803(5) 

of the FDCPA. 

34. Section 807 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, prohibits debt collectors from 

using any false, deceptive, or misleading representations or means in connection with the 

collection of any debt.  Without limiting the general application of Section 807, the section 

includes sixteen subsections specifying conduct that violates the section.   

a. Section 807(4), 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(4), prohibits the false representation or 

implication that nonpayment of any debt will result in arrest or imprisonment of 

the person.   

b. Section 807(7), 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(7), prohibits the false representation or 

implication that the consumer committed any crime in order to disgrace the 

consumer.   

c. Section 807(9), 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(9), prohibits the use or distribution of any 

written communication which simulates or is falsely represented to be a document 

issued by any court or which creates a false impression as to its source.   

35. Section 808 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692f, prohibits debt collection from 

using unfair or unconscionable means to collect or attempt to collect any debt.  Without limiting 

the general application of Section 808, the section includes eight subsections specifying conduct 

that violates the section.  Section 808(7) precludes debt collectors from communicating with 

consumers through the use of a postcard. 

36. Section 809(a) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a), demands that debt collectors 

send consumers a written notice containing certain information about the debt within five days of 
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the initial communication with a consumer in connection with the collection of any debt, unless 

that information is contained in the initial communication or the consumer has paid the debt. 

37. Section 814(a) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692l(a), provides that a violation of 

the FDCPA shall be deemed an unfair or deceptive act or practice in violation of the FTC Act, 

and authorizes the Commission to use all of its functions and powers under the FTC Act to 

enforce compliance with the FDCPA by any debt collector. 

COUNT THREE 
False Statements Used to Collect Debts 

 
38. In numerous instances, in connection with the collection of municipal utility debts 

covered by the FDCPA, Defendants directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication have used 

false, deceptive, or misleading representations or means, in violation of Section 807 of the 

FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, including, but not limited to: 

(a)  Falsely representing or implying that nonpayment of a debt will result in the arrest 

or imprisonment of any person, in violation of Section 807(4) of the FDCPA,     

15 U.S.C. § 1692e(4); 

(b)  Falsely representing or implying that a consumer committed a crime in order to 

disgrace the consumer, in violation of Section 807(7) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C.    

§ 1692e(7); and  

(c) Using or distributing a written communication which simulates or is falsely 

represented to be a document authorized, issued, or approved by any court, 

official, or agency of the United States or any State, or which creates a false 

impression as to its source, authorization, or approval, in violation of Section 

807(9) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(9). 
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COUNT FOUR 
Communication about a Debt by Postcard 

 
39. In numerous instances, in connection with the collection of municipal utility debts 

covered by the FDCPA, Defendants have used a postcard to communicate with persons about a 

debt, in violation of Section 808(7) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692f(7). 

COUNT FIVE 
Failure to Provide Statutorily Required Notice 

 
40. In numerous instances, in connection with the collection of municipal utility debts 

covered by the FDCPA, Defendants have failed to provide consumers, either in the initial 

communication or a written notice sent within five days after the initial communication, with 

information about the debt and the right to dispute the debt, in violation of Section 809(a) of the 

FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a). 

CONSUMER INJURY 

41. Consumers have suffered and will continue to suffer substantial injury as a result 

of Defendants’ violations of the FTC Act and the FDCPA.  In addition, Defendants have been 

unjustly enriched as a result of their unlawful acts or practices.  Absent injunctive relief by this 

Court, Defendants are likely to continue to injure consumers, reap unjust enrichment, and harm 

the public interest.  

THIS COURT’S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF 

42.  Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), empowers this Court to grant 

injunctive and such other relief as the Court may deem appropriate to halt and redress violations 

of any provision of law enforced by the FTC.  The Court, in the exercise of its equitable 

jurisdiction, may award ancillary relief, including rescission or reformation of contracts, 
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restitution, the refund of monies paid, and the disgorgement of ill-gotten monies, to prevent and 

remedy any violation of any provision of law enforced by the FTC. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that this Court, as authorized by Section 13(b) of the 

FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), and the Court’s own equitable powers, requests that the Court: 

 A.  Enter a permanent injunction to prevent future violations of the FTC Act and the 

FDCPA by Defendants; 

 B. Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to consumers 

resulting from Defendants’ violations of the FTC Act and the FDCPA, including, but not limited 

to, rescission or reformation of contracts, restitution, the refund of monies paid, and the 

disgorgement of ill-gotten monies; and 

 C. Award Plaintiff the costs of bringing this action, as well as such other and 

additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 
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one nature of suit, select the most definitive.

V. Origin.  Place an "X" in one of the six boxes.
Original Proceedings.  (1) Cases which originate in the United States district courts.
Removed from State Court.  (2) Proceedings initiated in state courts may be removed to the district courts under Title 28 U.S.C., Section 1441.  
When the petition for removal is granted, check this box.
Remanded from Appellate Court.  (3) Check this box for cases remanded to the district court for further action.  Use the date of remand as the filing 
date.
Reinstated or Reopened.  (4) Check this box for cases reinstated or reopened in the district court.  Use the reopening date as the filing date.
Transferred from Another District.  (5) For cases transferred under Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1404(a).  Do not use this for within district transfers or 
multidistrict litigation transfers.
Multidistrict Litigation.  (6) Check this box when a multidistrict case is transferred into the district under authority of Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1407.  
When this box is checked, do not check (5) above.

VI. Cause of Action.  Report the civil statute directly related to the cause of action and give a brief description of the cause.  Do not cite jurisdictional 
statutes unless diversity.  Example: U.S. Civil Statute: 47 USC 553  Brief Description: Unauthorized reception of cable service

VII. Requested in Complaint.  Class Action.  Place an "X" in this box if you are filing a class action under Rule 23, F.R.Cv.P.
Demand.  In this space enter the actual dollar amount being demanded or indicate other demand, such as a preliminary injunction.
Jury Demand.  Check the appropriate box to indicate whether or not a jury is being demanded.

VIII. Related Cases.  This section of the JS 44 is used to reference related pending cases, if any.  If a related case exists, whether pending or closed, insert
the docket numbers and the corresponding judge names for such cases. A case is related to this filing if the case: 1) involves some or all of the same

            parties and is based on the same or a similar claim; 2) involves the same property, transaction, or event; 3) involves substantially similar issues of law
                        and fact; and/or 4) involves the same estate in a bankruptcy appeal.

 d Attorney Signature.  Date and sign the civil cover sheet.
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